IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC02-803

HENRY A. DAVIS

Appellee.

APPELLANT, STATE OF FLORIDA'S INITIAL BRIEF ON APPEAL FROM THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY

_____/

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0802743 Westwood Center, Suite 700 2002 North Lois Avenue Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 801-0600 Fax: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References in this brief are as follows:

Direct appeal record will be referred to as "TR", followed by the appropriate page number. The record on resentencing will be referred to as "RS" followed by a volume and page number. The post conviction record will be referred to as "PCR", followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

In January of 1990, Davis was tried on before the Honorable Tim Strickland, Circuit Judge, Polk County. Davis was convicted of the first degree murder of seventy-three year old Joyce Ezell, armed robbery and burglary. On July 16, 1992, this Court affirmed Davis' convictions, but remanded the case for resentencing after this Court struck the avoiding arrest aggravator and found the trial court erred in considering commission of the murder during the course of a burglary and pecuniary gain as two separate aggravating factors. <u>Davis v.</u> <u>State</u>, 604 So. 2d 794, 798 (Fla. 1992). On November 17, 1992, the trial court again imposed the death penalty after reweighing the aggravating and mitigating factors, finding the aggravating circumstances "substantially outweigh the mitigating circumstances." (RS-3, 442-447). The trial court's decision was affirmed by this Court on November 10, 1994. <u>Davis v.</u> <u>State</u>, 648 So. 2d 107 (Fla. 1995).

Davis filed an incomplete or "shell" motion for postconviction relief on March 14, 1997. Ultimately, Davis filed an amended motion for post-conviction relief on July 17, 2000. (PCR-2, 299-350). Judge Strickland recused himself based upon Davis' motion for recusal. The motion asserted that trial defense counsel, Dan Brawley, was married to Judge Susan Roberts who sits in the same Circuit as Judge Strickland. To avoid even the appearance of impropriety, Judge Strickland granted the motion to recuse. (PCR-3, 355-366). The Honorable Charles L. Brown, was appointed to preside over the post-conviction hearing held in April of 2001. The post-conviction court rejected Davis' guilt phase claims, but found that trial counsel was ineffective during the penalty phase, and ordered a new penalty phase. This timely appeal follows.

II. <u>FACTS</u>

A. Trial And Penalty Phase

On direct appeal, this Court provided the following summary

of facts:

On the evening of March 18, 1987, the body of seventy-three year old Joyce Ezell was discovered in the foyer of her house just inside the front door. She had suffered twenty-one stab wounds. There were no signs of forced entry. Several items were missing from Ezell's home, including silver serving pieces, her purse and wallet, a pearl-handled pistol, some rare coins, jewelry, a ring belonging to her late husband, and her car. Davis was acquainted with Ezell because he had done yard work at her house with his stepfather.

Ezell's neighbor, Harold Brown, told police officers that he saw a black man walk up to Ezell's door at approximately 7:15 a.m. March 18. Several days later, Brown identified Davis from a photographic lineup as the man he had seen.

Ezell's car was discovered the day after the murder in a sink hole approximately five miles from her residence. Evidence indicated that at least three people had occupied the car recently. Silver serving pieces belonging to the victim were in the trunk. Davis's fingerprints were found on the power window control on the driver's side of the car and on several items recovered from the trunk of the vehicle. Fingerprints taken from inside the victim's house also matched Davis's fingerprints.

John Johnson, an acquaintance of Davis's, testified that he took Davis to a pawn shop the morning after the murder so that Davis could pawn a ring and an old pistol. The description Johnson gave of the pistol matched the pistol missing from Ezell's house. The ring, which had belonged to Ezell's late husband, was recovered from the pawn shop.

Davis was arrested on March 20, 1987. He denied committing the murder and said that he had not been in the victim's house or car. He initially said that he had been picking watermelons on the day of the murder but later said that he had been babysitting. A few days after his arrest, Davis told officers that the day before the murder, a black man who looked exactly like him showed him a weapon similar to an ice pick and said that he was going to rob Ezell. Davis said that he saw the man the day after the murder and the man asked him if he heard what happened. Davis also told the officers that he had seen Ezell at the post office on the day before the murder and he offered to go to her house to put up groceries. He said that he went to her house, put up groceries, then locked her car and left.

Davis was initially found incompetent to stand trial after he performed poorly on certain tests and indicated that he had no recall of events on the day of the murder. He was sent to Florida State Hospital where he was treated and evaluated for approximately nine months. Upon his release from the hospital, Davis was evaluated again, was found to be competent, and went to trial. After the conviction, the trial judge followed the jury's unanimous recommendation and imposed the death penalty for the murder.

Davis v. State, 604 So. 2d 795-604.

As for mitigation, this Court found, as follows:

With respect to mitigation, Davis presented evidence that he suffered from brain damage, perhaps as a result of a fall suffered four months before the murder. Two mental health experts testified that he was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the murder. The court found insufficient evidence in the record upon which the experts could base such an opinion. In addition, the defense experts opined that Davis's capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired. With respect to this testimony, the trial judge found the following:

[This] proposition is unsupported by any other evidence in the record. The facts reveal that after killing the victim, the Defendant methodically burglarized the home, wiped clean the murder weapon, loaded the car with stolen items, and took steps to hide the car. All of this indicates the Defendant clearly understood what he was doing, why he was doing it, and that it was unlawful. Thus recognizing the nature of his activities there is nothing to demonstrate that he could not conform his conduct to the requirements of the law.

We note that the State presented substantial expert testimony to refute the mental health testimony presented by Davis. Two mental health experts testified that Davis's poor performance on neurological tests and his lack of recall were attributable to malingering. In particular, the psychologist who evaluated Davis during his stay at Florida State Hospital testified that there was no evidence that Davis had organic brain damage, that Davis had suffered no significant head injuries, and that he showed no signs of psychosis. According to her testimony, when Davis felt that he was being evaluated, he would start to exhibit memory problems. He showed no problems when he did not suspect that he was being evaluated. [note omitted].

Even the defense experts acknowledged the possibility that Davis was malingering. Thus, there was competent and substantial evidence which supports the trial judge's findings on Davis' mental status.

<u>Davis</u>, 604 So. 2d at 798. Additional facts taken from the penalty phase are necessary for disposition of the present appeal.

During the penalty phase, trial defense counsel offered the testimony of Davis' mother, Barbara Stoudemire, and oldest sister, Alma Shepard. Ms. Stoudemire testified that Davis was born in Bartow and grew up in Lake Wales. (TR. 1300). Davis has had a nickname since he was a very young boy, "Sweetman." Id. Davis also lived with the family for about one year in 1970 or 1972 in Connecticut. (TR. 1301). They returned to Lake Wales where they have remained to the present day. (TR.

1301). Barbara Stoudemire testified that Davis' birth father was dead and that they had divorced in 1975. (TR. 1301-1302). Davis was only a little boy, her "baby," when they got divorced. (TR. 1302). After the divorce, Barbara married Mr. Stoudemire, known as Chaney, who testified earlier in the trial. (TR. 1302). They were still married at the time of trial. <u>Id.</u>

Barbara testified that in 1986 Davis received an injury to his head: "He was picking fruit and he fell out of a fruit tree and he injured his head." (TR. 1303). He was taken to Haines City Hospital and treated for the injury. (TR. 1303). He took medication after being released from the hospital. (TR. 1303). Davis' behavior changed after the head injury, his memory and quite a few things. (TR. 1304). At the time he was arrested, Davis was living with her and his stepfather. (TR. 1304). When asked if he was a good boy, Barbara replied: "Yes. Yes, sir."¹ (TR. 1304).

Davis graduated from High School in Lake Wales in 1982. (TR. 1306). She admitted that after Davis fell out of the tree she did not talk to any of the doctors. (TR. 1307). Barbara still thought Davis was a good boy. (TR. 1307).

¹On defense counsel's objection, the trial court prohibited the prosecutor from asking about Davis' felony arrests to test Barbara's opinion of Davis as a "good boy." (TR. 1304-1306).

Alma Shepard, Davis' older sister [27 at time of trial], testified that she and Davis grew up in Lake Wales Florida. (TR. 1308). She also lived for a time in Connecticut with the family. (TR. 1308-1309). When asked what Davis' life was like growing up in Lake Wales, Shepard replied: "Normal to me." (TR. 1309). She elaborated, testifying: "Well, he come from a broken home, if you want to say that, because my father was deceased and he was raised by his stepdad [James Stoudemire or Chaney]." (TR. 1309).

Alma was aware that Davis received a head injury when he fell out of a tree in 1986 or so. (TR. 1309-10). "He was picking fruit and he fell off the ladder, the ladder in the tree, in an orange grove and he fell." (TR. 1310). He was taken to the emergency room and treated at the Haines City hospital. (TR. 1310). She went to the emergency room and talked with the doctors. (TR. 1311). Alma testified that he did not seem normal after the injury: "Well, I told my mom I thought he did from the way he was - - he didn't act normal to me, I know the difference between a normal and abnormal person." (TR. 1311). He started acting like he had to convince the family that he loved them, asking them if they wanted things: "Just - - just things that make sure that he's making me happy." (TR. 1311-12).

Alma testified that she and other family members talked with two or three doctors, including Dr. McClane and Dr. Dee. (TR. 1212). Alma gave the doctors as much detail on the changes in Davis' behavior as she could recall after the fall. (TR. 1312). She saw Davis just about every other day before he was arrested. (TR. 1313). Davis was treated, X-Rays taken, then sent home the same day after the fall. (TR. 1313-14). Davis' behavior changed after that. The prosecutor inquired whether or not another reason could be given for the change in behavior, such as cocaine use. (TR. 1314). Ms. Shepard claimed not to know.² (TR. 1314).

Dr. Henry Dee testified that he was a clinical psychologist with a subspecialty in neuropsychology and child psychology. (TR. 1328). He has specialized training in neuropsychology and has examined and treated "`[t]housands of patients with head injuries. (TR. 1329). Frequently, medical doctors refer patients to a neuropsychologist to administer a battery of tests to determine brain damage or injury where the available medical

²Defense counsel moved for a mistrial by alleging the prosecutor injected an inflammatory matter into the penalty phase. (Tr. 1315). The prosecutor noted that he had a foundation to ask the question as a can fashioned into a pipe for smoking crack cocaine was found in the victim's car. (TR. 1315). As for the good faith basis for the question, the prosecutor stated that Mr. Davis was known in the law enforcement community as someone who used cocaine. (TR. 1322). Moreover, cocaine was found in the victim's car. (TR. 1322).

tests are inadequate or insufficient. (TR. 1332). A neuropsychological examination is an "exhaustive [nine hour] battery of tests that have been standardized for age, sex, level of education, et cetera, and it tests a broad variety of types of mental functions, such as various, very specific types of language function, memory and both verbal and nonverbal areas in both immediate and long-term memory. It tests a variety of visuospacial functions and perceptual functions, none of which are really tested very finely in a neurological examination." (TR. 1332).

Dr. Dee examined Davis on two occasions, the first time on January of 1988. (TR. 1332). At that time the issue was competency to stand trial. (TR. 1333). He examined prison record, prior hospital records, neurology records, "and an emergency room record from Heart of Florida Hospital in which Mr. Davis was examined because he had been attacked, kicked in the forehead and he told me later - - he filled in also struck on the head with brass knuckles on that occasion, the date that is -." (TR. 1333). He also examined the records of Dr. Rubin, a neurologist, who examined Davis one month after he fell out of the tree in 1986. (TR. 1333). Davis was complaining of continued problems with his vision. (TR. 1334). He considered those records in evaluating Davis. While the records do not

reveal the name of the medication he was given, Dr. Dee believes Davis was given Dilantin, "which is an antiseizure medication." (TR. 1334). When Davis ran out of the medication, he started having seizures again and began taking the medication again. (TR. 1334-35). Dr. Dee described an epileptic seizure as a chemical storm in the brain that "makes the body jerk and convulse." (TR. 1335). At the time of his first examination, Davis was not taking this medication. (Tr. 1336). In April of 1989, Davis was taking Thorazine, an antipsychotic medication, along with Tegretal, one of the "newer antisiezure medications." (TR. 1336). These medications were prescribed for Davis by medical doctors from the Florida State Hospital. (TR. 1336-37).

Dr. Dee testified he first conducted an interview, followed by a battery of tests: "Now, the tests are rather exhaustive, they begin with the Weschler Adult Intelligence Scale..." (TR. 1338). Davis' full scale score on the Weschler was 80. (TR. 1338). That would place him in a low percentile functioning, and, it was "mildly inconsistent with a person with a high school education, but it was not inconsistent with his premorbid educational status, I mean, occupational status. He had worked basically as a laborer and a yard man, and so I couldn't really say that that represented any decline in general mental function

because I couldn't be sure." (TR. 1339). Dr. Dee testified that from previous testing, as a child, Davis "tested in the normal range and when he was somewhat older, he was in the low, average range, is just what you would consider this." (TR. 1339). The test did not show any sort of mental retardation. (TR. 1339).

The next test was the Denman Neuropsychology Memory Scale. It was a companion to the Weschler and allows you to compare IQ, based on long term and short term memory. (Tr. 1340). When first tested, Davis yielded a "full scale memory quotient of zero." (TR. 1340). "In other words, his memory was terribly impaired." (TR. 1340). He also administered the Bender Visual-Motor Gestalt test, which Dr. Dee testified was one of the most common screening tests used in neuropsychology. It is a test of immediate visual memory and Davis' performance was "grossly defective." (TR. 1340-41). Dr. Dee also administered a test that he was developing called "multilingual facial examination" which is a four part test of language function, that tests how well a person understands what is said to them and how "verbally affluent" they are. (TR. 1341). Again, on this test, Dr. Dee testified that Davis had "grave difficulties." Dee Dr. testified that often damage to the left hemisphere will disrupt verbal fluency. (TR. 1342).

Dr. Dee administered two personality tests, the MMPI, and a Sixteen Personality Factors Test. These tests are sophisticated and provide a better way to measure faking. (TR. 1343). Initially, Davis told Dr. Dee that he could remember nothing about the day fo the murder. (TR. 1343). At one point, Dr. Dee testified, Davis told him he was out picking watermelons that day. (TR. 1343). Next, he told a story about baby-sitting for someone that day, maybe his grandmother. (TR. 1344). Dr. Dee testified: "But these [stories] turned out not to be true when they were checked out and he just says he just doesn't know what he was doing." (TR. 1344). When asked to explain the different stories, Dr. Dee testified that after talking to one of the sisters, they said that Davis would frequently tell different versions of stories. Dee thought this could be an Dr. indication of confabulation. (TR. 1344). He is not sure that a patient who is severely memory impaired knows that they are confabulating. (TR. 1345). Davis also complained of headaches and blurred vision after the fall. (TR. 1345-46). Prison medical records indicated Davis complained of blurred vision. (TR. 1346).

Dr. Dee related various scores for tests and sub-tests which indicated Davis' oral language and verbal memory were severely impaired. (TR. 1346). Moreover, various motor skill

tests also showed impairment by scores that showed Davis was "grossly defective." (TR. 1346). Based upon Davis' scores, Dr. Dee found Davis incompetent to stand trial after administering the first battery of tests in January of 1988. (TR. 1347).

After the first examination, Davis was sent to the Florida Sate Hospital where he was placed on medication and presumably received treatment. (TR. 1347). He was returned to Polk County after the examiners found him competent. (TR. 1347). Dr. Dee examined Davis a second time in April of 1989. (TR. 1347). His examination was exactly the same. Davis' performance of the Denman did not change. Similarly, Davis' full scale IQ was exactly the same, 80. (TR. 1348). In April of 1989, Davis was clear about the charges and other criteria utilized to assess competence to stand trial. (TR. 1348). Davis claimed his memory was better and that he now had a different version of events. (TR. 1349). Davis now asserted that he went to Ms. Ezell's house with two other individuals, Johnson and Shepard, intending to ask her for work. Davis asserted that Shepard and Johnson must have murdered Ms. Ezell when he was out back. They all ransacked the house for valuables and Davis left in the victim's car. He was afraid of Johnson and Shepard as they threatened to harm him and his mother. (TR. 1349-51).

Dr. Dee acknowledged that it was possible some of Davis'

story was not true. (Tr. 1351). It was also possible some of the story might be true. (TR. 1352).

Dr. Dee concluded that Davis was brain damaged. Dr. Dee testified:

Because of his performance on these tests. He did show significant improvement, and whether he was malingering the first time is open to question. Some people feel that maybe he was and maybe he was to a degree. But that's difficult for me to know with any certainty on the neuropsychological testing.

I feel certain on the second occasion there was no malingering and he simply could not perform very well on certain of the tests, the ones that I have enumerated. And I don't think Mr. Davis is sufficiently sophisticated to know what to fake and not to fake on these tests to give an impression of brain damage, and I don't think he was trying to give that impression. I think he was doing his best.

(TR. 1355).

Dr. Dee testified that Davis was suffering from extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the crime based upon his brain damage. Dr. Dee testified that one of the effects of cerebral damage is memory dysfunction "and increased impulsivity, which would be - - which is to say that it would make it more difficult for him in legal terms to mold his conduct according to the codes of the law." (TR. 1356). Dr. Dee believed that Davis' ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. Again, Dr. Dee testified that Davis was more likely to act "impulsively illegally" after sustaining his brain injury. (TR. 1357). Dr. Dee testified that Davis' diagnosis is "organic brain syndrome with mixed features, or organic personality syndrome, you can call it either one." (TR. 1359). His conclusion was drawn based upon the neuropsychological testing and not the personality tests. The personality testing reveals two possible interpretations. "Either his is a man who is in extreme distress, or faking bad." (TR. 1357). The MMPI validity scales indicated he might well have been trying to make himself look worse off than he was: "Yeah, in terms of his personality function, yeah, make himself look crazy or something." (TR. 1381).

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