IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-803

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

 \mathbf{v} .

HENRY A. DAVIS,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE AND INITIAL BRIEF OF THE CROSS-APPELLANT

LESLIE ANNE SCALLEY FLORIDA BAR NO. 0174981 ASSISTANT CCC

KEVIN T. BECK
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0802719
ASSISTANT CCC
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
813-740-3544

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ANSWER BRIEF

ARGUMENT I: The circuit court used the correct law and did not abuse its discretion in holding that counsel's failure to present mitigation at Henry Davis' penalty phase was ineffective assistance of counsel.

CROSS-APPEAL

ARGUMENT I: The circuit erred in finding that Mr. Davis was not deprived of the effective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase, where counsel failed to investigate and present available evidence that Reginald Shepard killed Joyce Ezell, failed to impeach a critical state witness, and failed to suppress a prejudicial photo-pack identification.

ARGUMENT II: The circuit erred in finding that Mr. Davis was not deprived of the effective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase, where counsel did not challenge the application of the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator or present available evidence that Henry Davis did not kill the victim, establishing the mitigating factors that Henry acted under extreme duress or the substantial domination of another person, and Henry was an accomplice in the offense and his participation was relatively minor. § 921.141(6)(d)(e) Fla. Stat. (1987).

ARGUMENT III: Newly discovered evidence establishes that Henry Davis is innocent of first degree murder, and the circuit court erred in holding that the evidence would not be admissible in a new trial.

ARGUMENT IV: Counsel's failure to preserve prosecutorial misconduct for appellate review was ineffective assistance of counsel, and the circuit court erred in holding that the claim was procedurally barred.

ARGUMENT V: The circuit court erred in holding that many constitutional claims were procedurally barred, when the substantive claim was counsel's failure to challenge the constitutional claim.

ARGUMENT VI: The cumulative effect of the errors that occurred during Mr.

Davis' trial violated his constitutional rights to a fair trial.

ANSWER BRIEF

ARGUMENT I

THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ABUSE IT'S DISCRETION IN DETERMINING THAT COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO INVESTIGATE AND PRESENT AVAILABLE MENTAL MITIGATION AT MR. DAVIS' PENALTY PHASE WAS INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHICH VIOLATED MR. DAVIS' RIGHTS UNDER THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

1. Standard of Review.

In deciding ineffective assistance of counsel claims, this Court reviews legal questions de novo and gives great discretion to the circuit court's findings of fact and credibility determinations.

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims present a mixed question of law and fact subject to plenary review based on the *Strickland* test. This requires an independent review of the trial court's legal conclusions, while giving deference to the trial court's factual findings.

Reichmann v. State, 777 So.2d 342, 350 (Fla.2000)(internal citations omitted)(emphasis added).

So long as its decisions are supported by competent

substantial evidence, this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact and, likewise, on the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given the evidence by the trial court. We recognize and honor the trial court's superior vantage point in assessing the credibility of witnesses and in making findings of fact.

Porter v. State, 788 So.2d 917, 923 (Fla.2001)(emphasis added).

2. The Circuit Court's Findings of Fact and Credibility Determinations.

Brawley noted he favors a "less is more" approach. A penalty phase in a death penalty case is not the time for a "less is more" strategy. This was not a case where there were and overwhelming number of aggravators versus scant mitigation. The only aggravators were HAC and in the course of a burglary. Every single bit of mitigation offered may have had a substantial effect on the jury's recommendation or the trial judge's sentence. Brawley failed to properly investigate and present this available mitigation evidence.

(PCRV7 1110).

A. Counsel's failure to adequately investigate and present evidence of Henry Davis' intellect and school performance during the penalty phase was deficient performance, and the prejudice is Henry Davis' death sentence.

The circuit court found that "Brawley failed to adequately investigate and present evidence concerning Davis' intellect and school performance." (PCRV7 1115). This factual finding is supported by competent and substantial evidence.

Counsel did not even attempt to obtain Henry's school records, though it was standard practice in capital defense (PCRV6 925, V7 1026). This prejudiced Henry Davis because the prosecutor was able to argue that Henry's borderline I.Q. was not mitigation because Henry graduated from high school with a regular diploma (P.R. V. 8, 1557).

Had counsel investigated and obtained Henry's school records (Defense Exhibit 4, stipulated into evidence without objection PCRV5 736), counsel could have refuted that argument. Henry did manage to receive a regular high school diploma, however, it took years of special education to get Henry that diploma. Henry's grades were poor. Henry spent ten years in classes in the specific learning disabilities program and repeated the eighth grade. In 1979, the Polk County public school system evaluated Henry and determined that he was in the borderline range of intelligence and functioned three to four years below his grade level. In 1982, the Polk County public school system reevaluated Henry and determined his academic achievement in all areas was two to seven years below his grade level. Though Henry was eighteen years old at the time of that evaluation, he functioned intellectually as an average fourteen year old. That report also noted that the district's earliest records show Henry's school performance was below average. Henry received speech therapy for two years and help for specific learning

disabilities continuously from 1973 (Defense Exhibit 4).

Henry graduated from high school with a regular diploma, but only with the help he received during ten years of special education. Henry certainly was not an average high school graduate. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in holding that counsel's failure to present this evidence was ineffective assistance.

B. Counsel failed to make genuine attempts to contact Henry Davis' extended family, former friends, and former neighbors, all of whom could have offered crucial mitigating evidence. This failure was deficient performance and the resulting prejudice is Henry Davis' death sentence.

The circuit court found that counsel "made little or no efforts to contact Davis' family, friends, teachers for mitigation purposes" (PCRV7 1115). This finding is supported by competent and substantial evidence.

At the evidentiary hearing, counsel testified his penalty phase strategy was:

Well the family members could talk about the head injury, the fall from the tree, which would tie in with Dr. Dee and Dr. McClane. The family members who are nice people, attractive people, they could humanize Henry. Since he hadn't taken the stand, I needed the jury to have some link with the humanness, the people, that were his people and cared about him. And, you know, they could talk about Henry as a human, as a person, and they did.

(PCRV7 1025).

To prepare to "humanize" Henry to the jury, counsel did not talk to Henry's

coaches, **counsel did not** talk to Henry's friends, **counsel did not** talk to the majority of Henry's family, and **counsel did not** talk to Henry's neighbors or visit Henry's neighborhood (PCRV6 897, V7 1032). Rather, counsel talked only to people associated with the trial, "like Bibby [a state witness] and his sister or sisters, I may have talked to both of them, and people that called and came to the trial that I met at different times" (PCRV7 1032).

To prepare his "humanizing" witnesses, counsel subpoenaed Henry's mother and sister (PCRV6 986).

- Q. Okay. And did Mr. Brawley talk to you about the kind of things he was going to ask you two when he called you up to the witness stand?
- A. No, he didn't.
- Q. He just called you up there and said, surprise, surprise, I'm going to ask you some questions, go on up there and see what happens?
- A. I guess he did.

(PCRV6 898).

Counsel did not ask Henry's mother and sister preparatory questions to elicit mitigating information about Henry's childhood and family relationships (PCRV6 889, 986-87). Rather, counsel elicited testimony that Henry fell out of a tree and was hospitalized, Henry had a normal childhood, and his mother thinks he is a

good boy (P.R. V.8 1299-1308).

Had counsel contacted Henry's friends, coaches, and family, he could have presented the following mitigating evidence.

Ron Kingry, Henry's track coach, testified that Henry was "mild mannered and easygoing" and never caused problems (PCRV4 621-22). Kingry was surprised to hear that Henry was charged with this crime because "from what I knew of him through track and field, it didn't seem to fit" (PCRV4 622). He also noted that Henry was not a bright kid (PCRV4 624). Nathan Menton, who also coached Henry in track, testified that Henry was "a very honorable and behaviorable [sic] student when he was in high school. We did not have any problems with Henry." (PCRV6 867).

Johnny Hamilton grew up with Henry (PCRV5 739). Henry was a nice, well-liked person who helped Mr. Hamilton's mother with chores (PCRV5 741).

Dwayne Bell also grew up with Henry and described him as a "decent guy, got along with everybody" (PCRV5 907). He was surprised that Henry was convicted of this crime because "the person I knew, you know, didn't fit to convict him like that" (PCRV5 907).

Andrew Malveaux knew Henry Davis since Henry was six years old (PCRV5 811). They lived in the same neighborhood, and Henry worked with and for Mr.

Malveaux (PCRV5 811). Mr. Malveaux described Henry:

He's a hard worker, a very good worker. Type young man that was blessed with a body in good physical condition, just a hard worker with a good attitude. . . he was easy to get along with. He did whatever I asked him to do. He never grumbled. He never complained. He's very easy to get along with, kept a smile on his face.

(PCRV5 811).

Henry's aunt, Vaunita Moore, described Henry as a "very nice sweet loving person" (PCRV5 818).

Very nice person. He was - he's the type of person that if you need anything or he would take his shirt off his back and give it to you. That's just how he was, sweet as he can be.

(PCRV5 814-15).

Every time I wanted him to do something for me he came and did it, no problem. Over at the house, move my furniture around. I call him, if he's available he will come and do it. He never said no. He was always just a good person.

(PCRV5 815).

Henry's sister, Katrice Hadley, described Henry:

A humble person. He's very easygoing. I always say that he reminds me of my mom. A kind of – like a person that would give you anything. Just a good

person.

(PCRV5 822).

Mrs. Hadley testified that Henry saw and heard his stepfather beat his mother (PCRV5 821). Henry's stepfather treated Henry different than his sisters, he was "very mean" to Henry (PCRV5 822).

Henry's sister, Michelle Odom [Rochelle Oldham], testified that Henry is a "[v]ery good hearted, good person" (PCRV6 870). She also testified that it was easy to talk Henry into doing things (PCRV6 870). Henry was severely traumatized when his cousin, Jonathan Robinson, was murdered in his presence (PCRV6 870, 874).

Barbara Stoudemire, Henry's mother, testified that Henry's stepfather, James Stoudemire, treated Henry terribly. Stoudemire forced Henry to miss school and work long days in groves and on lawns beginning when Henry was only nine years old (PCRV6 884-87). Stoudemire took the money Henry made while working but did not use it to support the family (PCRV6 894-95). Stoudemire beat Barbara and threatened to kill her (PCRV6 887-88).

Henry's sister, Cheryl Epps, testified that Stoudemire made Henry work in the groves when Henry was only ten years old (PCRV6 955). He worked almost every day from six in the morning to four or five in the afternoon (PCRV6 955).

Stoudemire also made Henry's older sisters work in the groves, but he forced Henry to work harder than his sisters and did not give him breaks (PCRV6 956). When Henry was twelve, Stoudemire forced Henry to do yard work for him just about every day, all day (PCRV6 956-57). Henry's sisters did not do the yard work (PCRV6 956). Stoudemire treated Henry differently, worse, than he treated his sisters (PCRV6 957-58). Stoudemire lied to Barbara, trying to force Henry out of their house (PCRV6 958-59).

Stoudemire also severely physically abused Barbara. He hit her with his fists, once knocking out all of her teeth, gave her black eyes, and kicked her (PCRV6 959). He often threatened to kill Barbara, using a gun if Barbara or the kids did not hide it from him (PCRV6 960). Henry saw these fights (PCRV6 960-61). Henry was severely traumatized when his cousin was killed in front of him, and he blamed himself for running when his cousin was shot (PCRV6 963, 970).

Alma Davis testified that Stoudemire "used [Henry] bad", making him work in the groves as soon as he married Barbara (PCRV6 976). When working in the groves, Stoudemire treated Henry poorly and demanded more of Henry than he did of Henry's older sisters.

He demanded quite more, more of Henry. Sweet – Henry – I call my brother Sweet, and he, he would make him work for hours and hours, hard and demanding. And like

when we got to go to the grove with him and if we play around or we decide we tired and don't want to do it, he kind of let us get by. But Sweet he will come down and hit him up side the head or demand, you going to do this, and sorry, you know, just saw all kind of bad things to him. Because you're a boy and you're supposed to be able to do this, and you better do this and you better work, and you don't eat and all that kind of stuff.

(PCRV6 977, 990). Stoudemire forced Henry to miss school to work or forced him to work after school (PCRV6 977). Stoudemire took this money as well as the social security money the children received after their father died, but, despite the extra income, they had a low standard of living (PCRV6 990-91). Stoudemire beat Henry (PCRV6 991).

Stoudemire was a violent alcoholic (PCRV6 978). Every week, Henry saw Stoudemire abuse their mother:

[H]e hit her with his fist, black her eyes, bust her lip. He ask something to her – like we came home one day and she was laying on the floor, she wouldn't walk, and she was crying. They were fighting. He really physically abused her, verbally abused her very bad. . . he used profanity and he would tell her he going to kill her and you guys stay with me and you better do this. He called her all kinds of bad names.

(PCRV6 979).

Because counsel did not investigate, none of this "humanizing" evidence was presented.

C. Counsel's failure to present evidence and establish the statutory mitigating factor of age was deficient performance, and the resulting prejudice is Henry Davis' death sentence.

The circuit court found:

It is clear from the record that Brawley never requested an age mitigator jury instruction. He never questioned any of the witnesses concerning Davis' mental and emotional maturity despite the fact that he had evidence that Davis had the mental maturity of a fourteen year old child.

(PCRV7 1114). This finding is supported by competent and substantial evidence.

Though counsel should have been aware that Henry did not have the mental and emotional maturity of an average twenty-two year old man and counsel knew that many psychologists and psychiatrists evaluated Henry Davis, counsel did not ask them about Henry Davis' mental maturity. Henry Davis was twenty-two years old at the time of the incident, but Dr. Dee diagnosed Henry Davis' mental maturity as that of a child fourteen and a half or fifteen years old (PCRV6 952).

Additionally, school records show that when Henry was eighteen years old, he functioned intellectually as an average fourteen year old. Had counsel established Henry's mental age, that, combined with his young age at the time of the crime, would have required instructions on and established the statutory age mitigating factor. Fla. Stat. § 921.141(6)(g) (1987). Garcia v. State, 492 So.2d 360, 367 (Fla. 1986); Echols v. State, 484 So.2d 568, 575 (Fla. 1988); Sims v. State, 681 So.2d

1112, 1117 (Fla. 1996); Campbell v. State, 679 So.2d 720, 726 (Fla. 1996).

D. Counsel's failure to investigate and present specific evidence of Henry Davis' brain damage and epilepsy was deficient performance. The resulting prejudice is Henry Davis' death sentence.

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